
 
 
 
VOICE/TDD (540) 373-3223     FAX (540) 371-3753 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
TO:   Board of Directors 
 
FROM:  Gregory Sokolowski, Secretary 
                                    Joe Wickens Executive Director 
    
SUBJECT:  Board of Directors Meeting   
   Tuesday, May 16, 2023 5:00 PM 

Rappahannock Area CSB – Board Room 208 
600 Jackson Street, Fredericksburg, VA 22401 
        

DATE:  May 12, 2023
 

  
A Board of Directors Meeting has been scheduled for Tuesday, May 16, 2023 at 5:00 PM, 
Rappahannock Area CSB – Board Room 208, 600 Jackson Street, Fredericksburg, VA 
22401. 
 
Looking forward to seeing everyone on May 16, 2023.  
  
Best. 
 
GS/JW  
 
 
Enclosure (Agenda Packet) 

Page 2 of 91



RAPPAHANNOCK AREA COMMUNITY SERVICES BOARD 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

May 16, 2023 

600 Jackson Street, Board Room 208 
Fredericksburg, VA 22401 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
I. MINUTES, BOARD OF DIRECTORS, April 18, 2023    Lapin 

 
II. PUBLIC COMMENT- Public Comment      Lapin 
 
III.  EMPLOYEE SERVICE AWARDS       Wickens 

 
5 years 
Bonny Gysel – Direct Support Professional, Igo Road 
Tamra McCoy – Coordinator, ACT 
 
10 years 
Jennifer Bateman – Prevention Specialist 
 
15 years 
Daniel Bairley – ID Support Coordinator, Caroline 
Brian Anderson – Case Manager, PSH 

 
IV Presentation for the Board: Early Intervention Services  
V. CONSENT AGENDA        Lapin 
 

RECOMMENDED: PROGRAM PLANNING AND EVALUATION     Beebe 
COMMITTEE May 9, 2023 

      
A.1 Information Only – Extraordinary Barriers List 
A.2 Information Only – Independent Assessment Certification and Coordination Team 
Update (IACCT) 
A.3 Information Only – Information Technology/Electronic Health Record Update 
A.4 Information Only – Crisis Intervention Team Assessment Center Report 
A.5 Information Only – Emergency Custody Order/Temporary Detention Order 
A.6 Information Only – Waitlist 
A.7 Approved – Licensing Reports 
A.8 Information Only – Quarterly Incident Report Review 
A.9 Information Only –Quality Assurance Report 
 
RECOMMENDED: FINANCE COMMITTEE May 9, 2023   Zurasky 
 
B.1 Information Only –Investment Report 
B.2 Information Only –Reimbursement Report 

Page 3 of 91



B.3 Information Only –Write Off Report 
B.4 Information Only – Health Insurance Account Report 
B.5 Information Only – Other Post-Employment Benefits 
B.6 Information Only – Payroll Statistics 
B.7 Approved – August Financial Report 
 
RECOMMENDED: PERSONNEL COMMITTEE May 9, 2023   Gayle 
 
C.1 Information Only –Retention Report 
C.2 Information Only –EEO Report and Recruitment Update 

   
VI.  NOMINATIONS FOR EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE     Beebe 
 
VII.  REPORT FROM THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR     Wickens 
  
VIII.  REPORT OF DIRECTORS and COORDINATORS 
  

A. Clinical Services         Kobuchi 
B. Finance and Administration       Cleveland 
C. Human Resources            McDonnel 
D. Compliance         Terrell 
E. Public Information        Umble 
F. Prevention          Wagaman 
G. Community Support Services       Jindra 
H. Deputy Executive Director       Williams 

  
IX. BOARD TIME         Lapin 
X. CLOSED SESSION         Lapin 
XI.  ADJOURNMENT         Lapin  

Page 4 of 91



April 2023 Board of Directors 
 Meeting Minutes 

Call to order 

A meeting of the Board of Directors of Rappahannock Area Community Services Board was held 
April 18, 2023 at 600 Jackson Street. Attendees included: Nancy Beebe, Claire Curcio, Glenna 
Boerner, Greg Sokolowski, Carol Walker, Matt Zurasky, Carley Hurd, Tina Cleveland, Amy Jindra, 
Jacque Kobuchi, Michelle Runyon, Stephanie Terrell, Amy Umble, Michelle Wagaman, Joe Wickens, 
and Brandie Williams. Not present: Ken Lapin, Jacob Parcell, Linda Carter, Susan Gayle, Sarah 
Ritchie, Melissa White 

Joe Wickens stated that in the absence of a quorum for Board meeting this evening, that he would 
present Section six of the Bylaws for Rappahannock Area Community Services Board 
for consideration; 

Section 6.         In the event a quorum is not present at a Board meeting, five or more Board 
members may reconstitute into a Committee of the Board to act for the Board and to 
perform official acts on behalf of the Board, subject to ratification by a quorum of 
the Board. 

Joe requested the Board enact section six for this evening. 

ACTION TAKEN: The Committee of the Board approved enacting Section 6 of the 
Rappahannock Area Community Services Board’s Bylaws to reconstitute into a Committee of 
the Board. 
Moved by: Matt Zurasky  
Seconded by: Carol Walker 

 

March 21, 2023 Minutes Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors approved the minutes from the February meeting. 

ACTION TAKEN: The Committee of the Board approved the minutes. 
Moved by: Claire Curcio  
Seconded by: Greg Sokolowski 

I. Employee Service Awards 

Joe Wickens announced that the following employees celebrated an anniversary for their 
service: 

a. Five Years 
i. Carrie Brown – Developmental Support Services Coordinator – Spotsylvania 

ii. Sharon Spangler – Office Associate II – Stafford 
iii. Megan Toler – Coordinator, Reimbursement – Fredericksburg 
b. Ten Years 

Page 5 of 91



i. Lydia Strain – Direct Support Person – Belmont SAP 

c. Employee of the Quarter (3rd Quarter) 

i. Teresa McDonnel – Lead Human Resources Specialist - Fredericksburg 

II. USI “Health Insurance Benefits Presentation” by, Scott Flora and Greg Snow  

Scott Flora and Greg Snow gave a comparison overview of the Health, Dental, and Vision 
insurance benefits of the previous contract to the new proposal for the new contract. They also 
reported on the plans and contributions, then gave recommendations for the new contract to 
be approved.  

ACTION TAKEN: The Committee of Board approved continued use of Anthem for Insurance 
with the recommended plans, contributions, and recommendations. 
Moved by: Greg Sokolowski 
Seconded by: Claire Curcio 

III. Consent Agenda 
 

a. RECOMMENDED: PROGRAM PLANNING AND EVALUATION 
COMMITTEE, April 11, 2023 
 
i. Information Only – Extraordinary Barriers List 
ii. Information Only – Independent Assessment Certification and Coordination Team 

Update (IACCT) 
iii. Information Only – Information Technology/Electronic Health Record Update 
iv. Information Only – Crisis Intervention Team Assessment Center Report 
v. Information Only – Emergency Custody Order/Temporary Detention Order 
vi. Information Only – March Waitlist 
vii. Information Only – Licensing Reports  

viii. Information Only – Data Highlights  
ix. Approval – Opioid Abatement Authority Local and Regional Funding Project 

Proposal 
 

b. RECOMMENDED: FINANCE COMMITTEE April 11, 2023 
 

i. Information Only – Board Deck, Financial Reports 
ii. Approval – Financial Summary 

iii. Approval – DBHDS One-time Funding Opportunities 
 

c. RECOMMENDED: PRVENTION AND PUBLIC INFORMATION April 11, 2023  
i. Information Only – The Free Lance-Star Columns 

ii. Information Only – Digital Marketing Reach 
iii. Information Only – Intranet Re-launch “Spark” 
iv. Information Only – Virginia Substance Abuse Prevention Block Grant Annual Report 

2022-23 

Page 6 of 91



v. Information Only – Synar Inspection Results 
vi. Information Only – Healthy Families Rappahannock Area Annual Quality Assurance 

Site Visit Report 
vii. Information Only – Rappahannock Area Kids on the Block City Arts Commission 

Grant  
viii. Information Only – FDA Approves First Over-the-Counter Naloxone Nasal Spray 

 
 

d. RECOMMENDED: PERSONNEL COMMITTEE April 11, 2023 
 

i. Information Only – Retention Report 
ii. Information Only – EEO Report and Recruitment Update 

ACTION TAKEN: The Committee of the Board approved the Consent Agenda. 
Moved by: Matt Zurasky  
Seconded by: Carol Walker 
 

IV. Items for Full Board Review  
i. March 2023 Executive Committee Meeting Minutes (addressed in closed session) 

V. Report from the Executive Director 
a. Joe Wickens reminded the Board that the Board Tour will be held next Tuesday, April 

25th, and to please RSVP if they would like to attend. 

VI. Report of Directors and Coordinators  
a. Clinical Services – Jacque Kobuchi reported that there have been some new therapists 

hired, and an increase of new applicants as a result of the Classification and 
Compensation Implementations.  

b. Human Resources – Michelle Runyon stated that there has been an influx of applicants 
in the month of April and there have been 19 offers made so far. Matt Zurasky inquired 
how the job fair went. Michelle R. reported that there were six attendees and there is one 
they are interested in pursuing. She said that they are continuing to use the radio ads in 
the hopes of gaining more applicants. 

c. Prevention – Michelle Wagaman reminded that Operation Medicine Cabinet will be held 
Saturday, April 29th from 10:00 AM – 2:00 PM. She also stated that Healthy Families 
will be holding their “Community Awareness Open House” tomorrow, Wednesday, April 
19th from 12:00 – 3:00 PM. 

d. Community Support Services – Amy Jindra reported that the plant sales for RAAI have 
been going well and that they have had to order more plants on three separate occasions 
to restock. She also reminded the Board that the Garden Party will be held on Thursday, 
April 20th from 6:00 – 8:00 PM at the main RAAI Campus. 

e. Deputy Executive Director – Brandie Williams stated that this is the season for 
community events and invited the Board to come to the events to see the dedication of 
the RACSB employees that volunteer their time to bring community awareness.  

Page 7 of 91



VII. Board Time 

a. Matt Zurasky thanked staff for working hard. 
b. Carol Walker is looking forward to the VACSB Conference. 
c. Claire Curcio is excited for the “Save One Life” training (Harm Reduction for 

Therapists). 
d. Nancy Beebe reminded the Board of the Kenmore Club Art Sale that will be held 

Saturday, May 13th at the Kenmore Club. 
e. Glenna Boerner is impressed with staff, and grateful to be here. 
f. Greg Sokolowski is impressed with staff and the work that is done. 

 
VIII. Closed Meeting – VA CODE § 2.2 – 3711 A (4), A (7), and A (15)  

Nancy Beebe requested a motion for a closed meeting. 
 It was moved by Nancy Beebe and seconded by Matt Zurasky that the Board of  

Directors of the Rappahannock Area Community Services Board convene in a closed 
meeting pursuant to Virginia Code § 2.2 – 3711 A (4) for the protection and privacy of 
individuals in personal matters not related to public business; and Virginia Code § 2.2 
– 3711 A (15) to discuss medical records excluded from 2.2 – 3711 pursuant to 
subdivision 1 of 2.2 – 3705.5. 

 
The motion was unanimously approved. 

 
Upon reconvening, Nancy Beebe call for a certification from all members that, to the 
best of their knowledge, the Board discussed only matter lawfully exempted from 
statutory open meeting requirements of the Freedom of Information Act; and only 
public business matters identified in the motion to convene the closed meeting. 

 
A roll call vote was conducted: 

 
  Nancy Beebe – Voted Aye   Glenna Boerner – Voted Aye 
  Claire Curcio – Voted Aye   Greg Sokolowski – Voted Aye 
  Carol Walker – Voted Aye   Matt Zurasky – Voted Aye 
 The motion was unanimously approved. 

IX. Adjournment 
The meeting adjourned at 6:40 PM. 

After the meeting and pursuant to Section 6 of the Bylaws, Board Secretary Greg Sokolowski sent 
request to all board members to ratify the actions taken by the Committee of the Board referenced 
above which was ratified by a quorum as documented below. 

The following Board members approved ratification:  Matt Zurasky, Greg Sokolowski, Susan Gayle, 
Melissa White, Sarah Ritchie, Claire Curcio, Ken Lapin, Jacob Parcell, Nancy Beebe 

              

                          

Board of Directors Chair              Executive Director 

Page 8 of 91



May 2023 Program Planning and Evaluation 
Committee Meeting Minutes 

Call to order 

A meeting of the Program Planning and Evaluation Committee of Rappahannock Area Community 
Services Board was held at 600 Jackson Street on May 9, 2023. Attendees included Nancy Beebe, 
Glenna Boerner, Claire Curcio, Susan Gayle, Ken Lapin, Jacob Parcell, Sarah Ritchie, Carol Walker, 
Melissa White, Bridget Williams, Matt Zurasky, Jacque Kobuchi, Tina Cleveland, Joe Wickens, Amy 
Umble, Teresa McDonnel, Stephanie Terrell, Patricia Newman, Suzanne Poe, Steve Curtis, and Nadine 
Mayo.  

Extraordinary Barriers List  

Patricia Newman reviewed the cases of three individuals on the Extraordinary Barriers List. Barriers to 
placement include developmental disability, behavioral issues, and a need for mental health supports 
and housing.  

Independent Assessment Certification and Coordination Team Update 

Jacque Kobuchi told the Committee that RACSB received 11 IACCT referrals in April and completed 10. 
One assessment was still in process. Four were from Spotsylvania, one from Stafford, one from 
Caroline, two from King George, and three from the City of Fredericksburg.  

Information Technology/Electronic Health Record Update 

Suzanne Poe said that the information technology department closed 910 help tickets in April and 
Community Consumer information was submitted to the state April 27. The IT department is working 
on a project to streamline and increase Avatar credentials. Additionally, Suzanne is retiring in July. 
Nathan Reese has been selected as the next IT Coordinator and the department is recruiting for an 
assistant coordinator. 

Crisis Intervention Team (CIT) Assessment Center Report  

Jacque Kobuchi reported that the CIT Assessment Center assessed 27 individuals in the month of April 
2023: Fredericksburg 4; Caroline 0; King George 1; Spotsylvania 8; Stafford 12. She said that lower 
numbers of assessments did not correlate to a decreased need for services. Instead, because it is more 
difficult to find hospital beds, individuals wait for longer periods in the CAC, which means that fewer 
people can use the center.  

Emergency Custody Order and Temporary Detention Order Report 

Jacque Kobuchi told the Committee that emergency services staff completed 325 emergency evaluations 
in April 2023. Sixty-five Emergency Custody Orders (ECO) were issued, 75 Temporary Detention 
Orders were issued. Five individuals were sent to state hospitals as a bed of last resort.  

April 2023 Wait List 
Page 9 of 91



Stephanie Terrell reported that 193 individuals were waiting more than 30 days for outpatient therapy 
appointments as of April 30, 2023. As of May 1, there were four older adolescents and adults and no 
children under the age of 13 waiting longer than 30 days for a psychiatry intake appointment.  

The Community Support Services waiting lists included: Mental Health Residential, 6 (needs, 0; 
referral, 3; acceptance, 3); Developmental Disability Residential, 97 (needs, 92; referral, 5; acceptance, 
0); Assertive Community Treatment, 17 (needs, 6; referral, 11, acceptance, 0); DD Waiver Services, 812; 
and Rappahannock Adult Activities, 37 (referrals, 33; assessing, 1; acceptance, 3). Stephanie said that 
RAAI had not previously had a waitlist but after Covid, staffing issues required one. 

Licensing Reports 

Stephanie Terrell said that The Department of Behavioral Health and Developmental Services Office of 
Licensing issues licensing reports when DBHDS finds agencies in non-compliant in some regulations. 
Agencies respond with Corrective Action Plans, detailing how they will address the issues raised. 
RACSB obtained approval for three CAPs in April 2023. One was for an incident at Leeland Road Group 
Home and two were for incidents at Lucas Street Intermediate Care Facility.  

ACTION TAKEN: It was moved by Susan Gayle and seconded by Ken Lapin that the Committee 
recommend the Board of Directors approves the Corrective Action Plans as presented.  

Quarterly Incident Report Review 

Stephanie Terrell reviewed the quarterly incident reports for the third quarter of FY23. There were 597 
reports received during that quarter and 99 of those were reported to DBHDS through the 
Computerized Human Rights Information System as a serious incident.  

Quality Assurance Report 

Stephanie Terrell reported that quality assurance staff had reviewed randomly selected charts, files, and 
documents in the following program: 

• Mental Health Outpatient, Stafford. The score increased from 72 to 81 on a 100-point scale. 
• Leeland Road Group Home. The score decreased from 47 to 41 on a 100-point scale. 
• Stonewall Estates Group Home. The score decreased from 70 to 30 on a 100-point scale.  

Carol Walker asked if the incidents were impacted by staffing issues. Joe Wickens said that there were 
many vacancies in the DD Residential program and that those vacancies did play a role in the incidents. 
Steve Curtis said that the DD Residential leadership team was also increasing accountability and 
training to ensure the safety of residents.  

Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 11:35 a.m. 

 

Page 10 of 91



Page 11 of 91



Page 12 of 91



Page 13 of 91



Page 14 of 91



Page 15 of 91



Page 16 of 91



Page 17 of 91



Page 18 of 91



Page 19 of 91



Page 20 of 91



Page 21 of 91



Page 22 of 91



Page 23 of 91



Page 24 of 91



Page 25 of 91



Page 26 of 91



Page 27 of 91



Page 28 of 91



Page 29 of 91



Page 30 of 91



Page 31 of 91



Page 32 of 91



Page 33 of 91



Page 34 of 91



Page 35 of 91



Page 36 of 91



Page 37 of 91



Page 38 of 91



Page 39 of 91



Page 40 of 91



Page 41 of 91



Page 42 of 91



Page 43 of 91



Page 44 of 91



Page 45 of 91



Page 46 of 91



Page 47 of 91



Page 48 of 91



May 2023 Finance Committee  
Meeting Minutes 

Call to order 

A meeting of the Finance Committee of Rappahannock Area Community Services Board was held at 
600 Jackson Street on May 9, 2023. Attendees included Nancy Beebe, Matt Zurasky, Glenna Boerner, 
Melissa White, Susan Gayle, Claire Curcio, Ken Lapin, Bridget Williams, Jacob Parcell, Sarah Ritchie, 
Jacque Kobuchi, Teresa McDonnel, Stephanie Terrell, Tina Cleveland, Joe Wickens, Amy Umble, 
Nadine Mayo, and Abigail Raposo. 

 

March 2023 Board Deck 

Tina Cleveland and Abigail Raposo reviewed a Board Deck summary of financial reports., including: 

• Cash Investments, which totaled $23,703,008 in March 2023. 
• Fee Revenue Reimbursement, with current year-to-date collections of $24,105,063 which was a 

20% increase from the previous year.  
• Write-Off Report, which totaled $275,141.52 for March 2023.  
• Health Insurance Account, with year-to-date monthly premiums totaling $2,935,415.28 and 

claims and fees totaling $1,937,181.80. 
• Other Post-Employment Benefits, which had a balance of $2,073,354.11 as of March 31, 2023.  
• Payroll Statistics, which showed that employees were paid an average of 463 overtime hours per 

pay period in FY23 and an average of 3,620 leave hours per pay period. 

March 2023 Financial Summary Report 

Nadine Mayo reviewed the March financial summary report with the Committee. Overall, FY23 
balances currently show a positive variance of $5.8 million, with $2 million of that being in restricted 
funds.  
ACTION TAKEN: The Committee unanimously approved a motion recommending the Board of 
Directors accept the report as presented.  
Moved by: Susan Gayle Seconded by: Glenna Boerner 

Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 1:08 p.m. 

 

 

 

 

Page 49 of 91



Page 50 of 91



Page 51 of 91



Page 52 of 91



Page 53 of 91



Page 54 of 91



Page 55 of 91



Page 56 of 91



Page 57 of 91



Page 58 of 91



Page 59 of 91



Page 60 of 91



Page 61 of 91



Page 62 of 91



Page 63 of 91



Page 64 of 91



Page 65 of 91



May 2023 Personnel Committee  
Meeting Minutes 

Call to order 

A meeting of the Personnel Committee of Rappahannock Area Community Services Board was held at 
600 Jackson Street on May 9, 2023. Attendees included Ken Lapin, Glenna Boerner, Matt Zurasky, 
Melissa White, Susan Gayle, Sarah Ritchie, Claire Curcio, Carol Walker, Nancy Beebe, Bridget Williams, 
Jacque Kobuchi, Teresa McDonnel, Nadine Mayo, Abigail Raposo, Tina Cleveland, Joe Wickens, and 
Amy Umble. Members not in attendance included Linda Carter and Greg Sokolowski. 

April 2023 Retention Report 

Teresa McDonnel reported that Human Resources processed a total of six employee separations for the 
month of April 2023. The retention rate was 98.8%. 

April 2023 EEO Report and Recruitment Update 

Teresa McDonnel told the Committee that RACSB received 144 applications through April 30, 2023. 
This is an increase of 35.85% to the month of March 2023, and an increase of 152.63% when compared 
to the month of April 2022. 

Matt Zurasky asked for a breakdown of the open positions, how many were entry level and how many 
were management level. Teresa replied that most were entry level but there were several manager and 
supervisor level openings, including a coordinator and a director. Joe Wickens said that they would 
provide a report with more detail on the positions for the next month.  

Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 1:15 p.m. 

Page 66 of 91



Page 67 of 91



Page 68 of 91



Page 69 of 91



Page 70 of 91



Page 71 of 91



Page 72 of 91



Page 73 of 91



Page 74 of 91



Page 75 of 91



Page 76 of 91



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

600 Jackson Street 
Fredericksburg, VA 22401� 
540-373-3223 
 
RappahannockAreaCSB.org 

 

         

To:     Joseph Wickens, Executive Director 

From: Jacqueline Kobuchi, Director of Clinical Services 

Date:  May 11, 2023 

Re:     Report to RACSB Board of Directors for May Board Meeting 

 

Outpatient Services 

 
The Caroline Clinic established a waiting list on 11/17/2022 and it remains active.  Lili Spain, MSW started as MH/SA 
clinician on 4/3/2023 and Sunshine Lady House staff provide outpatient services at the clinic temporarily on a part‐time 
basis.  They have been a great help! Clinic staff completed 21 intakes in April for our priority populations and also 
contacted individuals on waiting list for weekly check‐in calls.  The co‐ed substance abuse group and adult wellness 
group also remains active. Lili Spain, MSW participated last month in Motivational Interviewing, DLA20 and substance 
abuse on‐line trainings. 

 
During the month of April, the Fredericksburg Clinic and Children’s Services Clinic scheduled 126 intakes for outpatient 
therapy and medication management. Children’s Services Clinic scheduled 43 intakes and the Fredericksburg Clinic 
scheduled 83 intakes. Out of the 83 intakes scheduled, 38 intakes were scheduled for Same Day Access. We welcomed a 
new telehealth contracted therapist through Iris Telehealth, Bria Brown, LCSW, who will be able to provide assessments 
and ongoing therapy to clients in our catchment area. We also welcomed Sunilda Suarez‐Ruiz to our front desk in 
Fredericksburg as an Office Associate II. Suni has been working as a temp for the past several months and we are excited 
for her to officially join our team! We are continuing to hire for an Office Associate II, Medical Records position, Mental 
Health Peer Recovery Specialist, Intake Therapist, and MH/SUD Therapist at the Fredericksburg Clinic.  

 
The King George Clinic continues to offer the weekly substance abuse treatment program for men and women.   One 
participant in particular has seen a lot of progress in their treatment this month.  This individual had previously struggled 
greatly with compliance and is now not  using their substances of choice and is communicating regularly and openly 
within the group and with the therapist.  
 
The King George clinic will begin offering a mental health group for elementary aged children next month. This group will 
meet every week on Tuesday evenings and will focus on important topics, including developing social skills, substance 
prevention, conflict resolution, anxiety/worry, depression/safety, emotion identification, stress/time management, 
responsibility/accountability.   Group activities will include mental health jeopardy, gratitude trees, stress balls, calming 
jars, and a fun and team based obstacle course. 

 

Page 77 of 91



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

600 Jackson Street 
Fredericksburg, VA 22401� 
540-373-3223 
 
RappahannockAreaCSB.org 

 

         

King George Clinic staff attended a Motivational Interviewing training on Harm Reduction, and an Ethics training 
focusing on Clinical Services and the Justice System this month.  Clinic staff completed 24 new client intakes during the 
month of April. 

 
The therapists at the Spotsylvania Clinic completed 38 assessments in April. The clinic continues to be on a waitlist.  
Therapists contact individuals on the waitlist weekly to check‐in and provide updates. The clinic welcomed the new 
Office Associate. The clinic said goodbye for now to their Intern who has accepted a full‐time position. She will rejoin the 
team the end of May as the Mental Health/Substance Use Therapist. She is bilingual and able to provide therapy in 
Spanish. The clinic continues to have one Substance Use Therapist vacancy. The Clinic Coordinator has been conducting 
interviews for this position and is hopeful to submit a hiring packet soon. Clinic Coordinator conducted a DLA20 training 
for 14 CSB employees throughout the region. Therapists have been taking advantage of the following training 
opportunities this month: TFCBT webinar, Motivational Interviewing, DBT, and DLA20.  
 
 
The School‐Based Therapy program continues to grow. The School‐Based Therapist has officially started in Caroline 
County Schools. She will be providing services at the middle, high, and alternative schools. The School‐Based Therapist 
with Fredericksburg City continues to provide therapy to students in five schools. The Clinic Coordinator had the 
privilege of participating in the Superintendent Community Round Table to continue the conversation on how to best 
support students. The Safe Harbor Therapist continues to provide Trauma Focused Cognitive Behavioral therapy to 
children who have disclosed abuse through Forensic Interviews. The therapist completed her hours towards licensure to 
become a Licensed Professional Counselor!   

 

Case Management  
 
The Adult Mental Health Case Management team continues to receive referrals for services from various different 
sources to include RACSB therapists at time of intake, Emergency Services, State Hospital discharges, Community 
referrals as well as individuals and their families seeking services on their own.  During the month of April 2023, the 
MHCM Team enrolled 24 individuals in services, supporting each individual in linking with the appropriate benefits, 
services and resources in order to work toward increased stability and independence. 
 

Child and Adolescent Case Management has seen an increase in referrals for families seeking residential treatment 
placement out of the home for children and adolescents. Utilization Review staff have received six residential referrals in 
the last two weeks which is a significant number. There are fewer residential facilities in Virginia since COVID and many 
facilities currently have wait lists for bed availability. We continue to recruit for two full‐time positions in Stafford 
County. Three staff are registered to attend The Supporting Socially Marginalized Youth Summit in Richmond sponsored 
by DBHDS this month.  
 

Jail & Detention  

Page 78 of 91



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

600 Jackson Street 
Fredericksburg, VA 22401� 
540-373-3223 
 
RappahannockAreaCSB.org 

 

         

 

Detention has a census of 42 residents.  Currently, there is one group of seven CPP residents and three residents in the 
Post D program. The CPP program will cease at the detention center effective July 1, 2023. Detention has two current 
vacancies for a full‐time and a part‐time therapist.  The Mental Health Therapist position at the Jail has been filled.  
Grace Landolt will start on May 30, 2023.  The OBOT/MAT Peer Specialist position has been re‐posted.  Jail staff have 
plans to start weekly Mental Health clinic on most pods to expedite services. 

 

Specialty Dockets  

Behavioral Health Docket welcomed one new participant this month and did not have any terminations. We are up to 
nine active participants in the program and are seeing a lot of progress with the participants toward their treatment 
goals. We currently have eight Veterans Docket participants and are awaiting court dates for two others who have been 
evaluated and approved for participation.  Juvenile Drug Court continues to operate with two participants. Adult Drug 
Court currently has over forty active participants and have several clients who have been evaluated and are awaiting 
their court dates to begin participation. The D21 Probation and Parole Therapist position continues to remain vacant at 
this time and this population is being served through the clinics where they reside.  
 
Nicole Bassing, Specialty Dockets Coordinator, received the “2023 Community Partner Award” at the safety awards 
banquet held jointly by the Spotsylvania Sheriff’s Office and the Spotsylvania Commonwealth Attorney’s Office.  We are 
so proud of the work she does in our community!   

 

Substance Use  

SUD Programs continue to have one therapist vacancy.  The Project LINK specialist vacancy was filled during the month 
of April and the new specialist began her role on 5/1/2023.  We continue to anticipate the new SUD therapist’s start 
date of 5/30/2023.  
The Substance Use Disorder Coordinator and Peer Recovery Specialists continue to serve on the Harm Reduction 
Subcommittee, under Be Well Rappahannock.  The SUD Coordinator assisted in hosting a job fair at Sunshine Lady House 
in hopes of recruiting for vacancies.  The SUD Coordinator also continues to attend monthly Recovery Behind Walls 
meetings in efforts to improve transitional planning and reduce barriers for those incarcerated with opioid use 
disorders. SUD staff continue to meet monthly via zoom to provide support to one another and staff challenging cases, 
in efforts to protect against compassion fatigue and burnout.  
 
SUD staff continue to offer weekly intake assessments, prioritizing those with opioid use, use while pregnant, or 
intravenous drug use.  Our case managers work diligently to provide residential prescreens in a timely manner and 
support in reducing barriers for those with primary substance use disorders. The peer drop‐in groups continue to be 
facilitated weekly and have increased in attendance.   

 

Page 79 of 91



 
Prevention Services 
Michelle Wagaman, Director 
mwagaman@rappahannockareacsb.org     April 2023 
540-374-3337, ext. 7520 
 
Substance Abuse Prevention 
RACSB Prevention Services continues substance abuse prevention efforts specifically targeting 
youth. In response to the opioid epidemic and legalization of adult-use cannabis, our target 
demographics to include adults. 
 
Youth Education/Evidence Based Curriculums – We continue to partner with St. Paul’s and 
4Seasons day care/preschool centers in King George County to facilitate curriculums including 
HALO (Healthy Alternatives for Little Ones) and Second Step. Jennifer Bateman, Prevention 
Specialist, attended the Virginia Foundation for Healthy Youth Conference in Alexandria April 
24-26, 2023. She will be participating with an effort to update the HALO curriculum. 
 
Coalitions – The Community Collaborative for Youth and Families resumed meeting in April 
2023. Initial efforts for members will be to support local departments of social services with a 
needs assessment related to future funding for the Promoting Safe and Stable Families grant.  
 
Tobacco Control – DBHDS is providing updated CounterTools materials that have been 
translated into Spanish. We will visit an estimated 300 retailers over the next year to provide 
merchant education.   
 
Alcohol and Vaping Prevention Education – We completed another round of high school 
education at King George High School in April. We facilitate alcohol prevention and vaping 
prevention education trainings as part of health classes.  
 
 
State Opioid Response (SOR) 
RACSB Prevention Services is actively engaged with community partners to address the opioid 
response in the areas of prevention, harm reduction, treatment, and recovery. 
 
Coalitions – The Opioid Workgroup meets monthly and is an interdisciplinary professional 
group. Recent efforts include a training for physicians at Mary Washington Healthcare. A 
training for clinicians on Harm Reduction will be held May 19, 2023 at Germanna Community 
College.  
 
May 9, 2023 is recognized as the second annual Fentanyl Awareness Day. There was a big state-
wide push from the Governor’s Office for CSBs to utilize the toolkit, host events, and increase 
community awareness of the dangers of fentanyl.  
 

Page 80 of 91



Locally, we utilized social media with daily posts the week leading up to the awareness day. 
There was a media release and information on our website. We trained and dispensed Naloxone 
at St. George Episcopal Church The Table produce distribution as well as at the request of the 
head of nursing at Stafford County Public Schools. T-shirts were provided to those tabling events 
as well as SA, OBOT, and nursing staff.  
 

   
 
Additionally, a virtual screening of the documentary “Dead on Arrival” was held in the evening 
on May 9th. It was attended by 22 community members including two media representatives.  
 
Governor Youngkin was at Stafford High School to discuss the state REVIVE! program. And 
Virginia Secretary of Education Aimee Rogstad Guidera spoke at Germanna Community 
College. 
 

    
 

Page 81 of 91



 
 

 
 

 

Page 82 of 91



View coverage by Fredericksburg Today 
 
Save One Life Naloxone Trainings –RACSB continues to host virtual trainings twice a month 
and at the request of community partners. In April, we facilitated trainings at the request of 
University of Mary Washington (one for faculty/staff and one resident life programming for 
students), The National Park Service, Operation Medicine Cabinet, and Teen Summit at James 
Monroe High School. We are scheduled to train all 100+ of the Spotsylvania County DSS staff 
in May. 
 
To register for a REVIVE! training: https://bit.ly/VIRTUAL_REVIVE 
To register for Narcan dispensing: https://bit.ly/RACSB_NARCAN  
 
Education/Outreach – We continue to partner with community stakeholders and provide 
information and resources. One such event was Operation Medicine Cabinet on April 22, 2023. 
This is part of the national drug take back day organized by the DEA. RACSB staff were at two 
sites to train and dispense naloxone.  
 
 
Suicide Prevention Initiatives 
RACSB Prevention Services takes an active role in suicide prevention initiatives including: 
 
ASIST (Applied Suicide Intervention Skills Training) – This Living Works curriculum is a 2-
day interactive workshop in suicide first aid. Participants learn how to recognize when someone 
may have thoughts of suicide and to work with the individual to create a plan that will support 
their immediate safety.  
 
RACSB was unable to host the ASIST training scheduled for May 10 -11, 2023 due to 
participations cancelling their registrations. This resulted in not meeting the minimum number of 
attendees needed to host the course. The next ASIST is scheduled for July 10-11, 2023.  
 
To register: https://www.signupgenius.com/go/RACSB-ASIST-Training2023 
 
Mental Health First Aid – This 8-hour course teaches adults how to identify, understand, and 
respond to signs of mental health and substance use disorders. The training introduces common 
mental health challenges and gives participants the skills to reach out and provide initial support 
to someone who may be developing a mental health of substance use problem and connect them 
to the appropriate care.  
 
In April, we returned to the Rappahannock Criminal Justice Academy twice for Law 
Enforcement Basic and Jail Basic recruits. We also hosted an Adult MHFA for the community 
on May 2, 2023. We have finalized plans to train all staff at the Central Rappahannock Regional 
Library in September and October. We have added four (4) training dates to meet their needs.  
 
We are pleased to be adding additional trainers to help us expand capacity and training requests 
from community partners. Benjamin Henderson, Health Educator, will complete both the Youth 
and Adult train-the-trainers in May. Additionally, long-time trainer Michelle Amey will add the 

Page 83 of 91

https://fredericksburg.today/2023/05/09/watch-community-services-board-talks-about-ways-the-region-is-fighting-back-against-fentanyl/?utm_source=Fredericksburg.Today&utm_campaign=393031cbc2-RSS_EMAIL_CAMPAIGN&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_a9bca0da24-393031cbc2-325107629&mc_cid=393031cbc2&mc_eid=c0d5507006
https://bit.ly/VIRTUAL_REVIVE
https://bit.ly/RACSB_NARCAN
https://www.signupgenius.com/go/RACSB-ASIST-Training2023


Youth certification. And, Board members Susan Gayle and Melissa White are becoming Youth 
instructors in preparation for bringing teenMHFA to Caroline County Public Schools. 
 
To register:  
Adult MHFA - https://www.signupgenius.com/go/RACSB-MHFA-Training2023  
 
Youth MHFA - https://www.signupgenius.com/go/RACSB-YouthMHFA-Training2023  
 
Congratulations once again to Sherry Norton-Williams, Prevention Specialist. For a second 
consecutive year, Sherry was recognized by National Council as the Top Mental Health First Aid 
Instructor for Virginia! 
 

 
 
safeTALK – This 3-hour suicide alertness training encourages participants to learn how to 
prevent suicide by recognizing signs, engaging the individual, and connecting them to 
community resources for additional support. If we meet the minimum number of participants, 
our next training is scheduled for May 16, 2023.  
 
To register: https://www.signupgenius.com/go/RACSB-safeTALK-Training2023  
 
Lock and Talk Virginia – The media campaign to recognize May as Mental Health Month has 
launched! The 2023 theme is “Tell me… I’m Seen, I’m Heard, I’m Accepted.” This campaign 
was built for adults to better support the mental wellness of youth. To learn more:  
https://www.lockandtalk.org/campaigns/tellme  
 

Page 84 of 91

https://www.signupgenius.com/go/RACSB-MHFA-Training2023
https://www.signupgenius.com/go/RACSB-YouthMHFA-Training2023
https://www.signupgenius.com/go/RACSB-safeTALK-Training2023
https://www.lockandtalk.org/campaigns/tellme


 
 

 
   
If you haven’t already, please visit our new website at www.lockandtalk.org and follow us on 
Facebook and Instagram. 
 
Means Safety – We continue to distribute medication lock boxes, and cable gun locks as part of 
our regional initiative Lock and Talk Virginia. We also promote safe storage and disposal of 
medications.  
 
Awareness and Education – We continue to partner with community organizations to provide 
information and education. We distributed a new supply of the “See Your Strength” mirror 
decals at events and to community partners.  
 
 
Additional Initiatives  
 
Responsible Gaming and Gambling – Planning continues to engage stakeholders to create a 
logic model and plan specific to Planning District 16. RACSB is now a member of the Virginia 
Council on Problem Gambling. To learn about this organization, please visit www.vcpg.net.  
 
ACEs and Resilience – RACSB Prevention Services has resumed in-person trainings and 
continues to collaborate with fellow CSBs to host virtual Understanding ACEs trainings. Our 
next in-person training is scheduled for May 23, 2023.  
 
To register for in-person trainings: https://www.signupgenius.com/go/RACSB-
ACEsTrainings2023  
 
To register for virtual trainings: https://forms.gle/mS9g5tZaQiuopFLo8  

Page 85 of 91

http://www.lockandtalk.org/
http://www.vcpg.net/
https://www.signupgenius.com/go/RACSB-ACEsTrainings2023
https://www.signupgenius.com/go/RACSB-ACEsTrainings2023
https://forms.gle/mS9g5tZaQiuopFLo8


 
Community Resilience Initiative – We have resumed offering Course 1 Trauma Informed and 
Course 2 Trauma Supportive. These are 6-hour courses that cover brain science, the individual 
experiences and ways to build individual and community resilience. 
 
To register: https://www.signupgenius.com/go/RACSB-CRI-Training2023 
 
CRI is hosting their annual conference on the east coast for the first time. It will be held at the 
Hotel Roanoke (July 20-21, 2023).  
 
 
Healthy Families Rappahannock Area  
HFRA helps parents IDENTIFY the best version of themselves, PARTNERS with parents with 
success in parenting, and EMPOWERS parents to raise healthy children.   
 

LOCALITY NUMBER 
OF 

REFERRALS 

ASSESSMENTS NUMBER OF 
FAMILIES 

RECEIVING 
HOME VISITS 

NEW 
ENROLLEES 

YEAR-TO-DATE 

CAROLINE COUNTY 0 1 6 2 
CITY OF 
FREDERICKSBURG 

2 2 27 14 

KING GEORGE COUNTY 0 1 6 2 
SPOTSYLVANIA COUNTY 8 9 53 14 
STAFFORD COUNTY 5 6 33 13 
OUT OF AREA (REFERRED 
TO OTHER HF SITES) 

0 0 0 0 

TOTAL 15 19 125 45 
 

• The Community Awareness open house held April 19, 2023 was well attended with 
nearly double the number of attendees compared to the prior year. A special thank you to 
Juan More Taco for sponsoring the refreshments.  

• Participated in the Race Towards Autism, Safe Harbors Open House and Stafford 
Wellness Fair 

• Met with Dr. Ayana McCrae, King George Pediatrician, to build a relationship and work 
on increasing referrals received from this county 

 
 

Page 86 of 91

https://www.signupgenius.com/go/RACSB-CRI-Training2023


1 
 

Community Support Services Board Report: May 2023 
 
 

 
  
Developmental Disabilities (DD) Residential Services - Stephen Curtis  

As April began, DD Residential services was down 60 of 172 budgeted positions.  As of 4/30, 52 
positions were open.  However, 2 positions had been accepted and another 9 hiring packets are in process.  
2 candidates were turned down due to negative driving records.  Resume submittal has increased 
substantially.  The takeaway from this is that RACSB’s salary and compensation scale is drawing the 
attention and interest of candidates and we are quickly seeing the impact it is having. We look forward to 
seeing additional positive increases in May. 
 
Michael Peregory, Wolfe Street ICF, and Mario Anthony-Williams, Ross Drive are now both serving as 
acting managers for their programs.  We thank them for their willingness to take on the responsibilities 
and duties for the positions. 
 
We recently welcomed Candace Foxx to the manager position at Igo Road Group Home, and Lucy Carter 
to the Lucas Street ICF Manager position.  We are very excited about the experience and leadership skills 
both bring with them.     
 
 
 
Psychosocial Rehabilitation: Kenmore Club - Anna Loftis  
 
Kenmore Club is currently making lots of plans for the upcoming art show, May 13. There are lots of 
pieces made by club members and staff, in an effort to increase awareness of mental health and raise 
some funds for the club. We also participated in the Mental Health of America walk earlier this month, 
and continue to work with community partner, NAMI, for an in-service. We say goodbye to our interns 
this month, but are looking forward to more outside activities, like our park day later this month. Our 
current enrollment is 81.  
 

 

 

 

 

DD Day Support: Rappahannock Adult Activities, Inc. (RAAI) - Lacey Fisher 
 
 

RAAI Garden party on 4/20 was a great success. Everyone had a great time and we are happy to have this 
event back. Plant sale continues to be busy, we anticipate running out of plants the first 2 weeks of May 
and wrapping up.  
 

Page 87 of 91



2 
 

RAAI is currently supporting 112 individuals; with 38 individuals currently on the waitlist for services. 
We anticipate being able to make significant progress on reducing our waitlist in the upcoming months as 
we have filled many of our staffing vacancies. At this time, all full-time positions at RAAI have been 
filled and only part time remain.  
 
Though we anticipate being almost fully staffed in the upcoming months, we do have less staff than we 
did prior to the staffing crisis. In the last 2 fiscal years, we converted 16 part time positions into 9 full 
time positions, in hopes to recruit and fill the massive number of vacant positions we had coming out of 
COVID. To reach a census of what we had pre-covid, we would likely need to increase staffing positions 
in the future or split those full time positions back into part time as they are vacated.  
 
We have continued to increase community engagement numbers and are currently at an average of 2.7 
across the whole program. DBHDS Customized rate services (1:1 supports) have all continued to be 
renewed with the most recent rate of $44.49 per hour, DBHDS renewal staff report our documentation 
and renewal procedures have become excellent; making it clear the individuals receiving this support 
require it.  RAAI continues to identify individuals who would benefit from this service and are not 
successful in the 1:7 group day and 1:3 community engagement ratios to close the gap on our budget 
deficit.  
 
 

 
Mental Health (MH) Residential Services - Nancy Price 
 

-One individual discharged from residential and went to an ALF.  

- Three individuals were admitted into residential, two into Home Roads and one into Lafayette Boarding 
House.  

-We had (6) referrals from Western state hospital for our transitional beds.  One was accepted and moved 
into Home Road the end of April.  One was unable to complete their CSS assessment due to psychosis 
and instability.  One was accepted into LBH, but then returned to jail.  Three are waiting to complete 
passes.  

- We had two (2) community referrals.  One will be completing his second pass once he is discharged 
from Snowden and one will be completing his first pass.   

- PSH moved in seven (7) new clients into housing. 

 -The expansion plan for PSH was approved by DBHDS.  Two new positions will be added due to the 
expansion, one case manager and one office manager.  The first payout is due around mid May from 
DBHDS. 

 

Early Intervention: Parent Education and Infant Development (PEID) - Suzanne Haskell  

There are currently 536 children enrolled in the program receiving a combination of services to include 
service coordination, speech therapy, physical therapy, occupational therapy and educational 
developmental services. We are offering all services face-to-face and giving the option for families to 
choose to be seen via zoom.  Due to increased referrals, we are scheduling 15 consistent assessments per 
week as well as adding intermittent assessments in various counties.  Each of the last few weeks we have 

Page 88 of 91



3 
 

assessed 20, or close to 20, each week.  There are currently 16 providers on staff.  We currently have an 
open position for a speech-language pathologist. 

 

 

Specialized Transportation: Clark Thomas 

RACSB is awarded three Ford Transit 9 passenger vans with lift from the FTA 5310 Capital Grant 
application for FY24.  The vans will be delivered in the summer/fall of 2024.   

 

 

Page 89 of 91



 

RACSB DEPUTY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REPORT   
April 2023 Review 

 
Community Consumer Submission 3 version 7.5 (CCS3 7.5) 
The Community Consumer Submission 3 version 7.5 is the technical specifications for our state 
reporting data collection and extract.  RACSB staff, Suzanne Poe and Brandie Williams serve on 
the joint CCS User Acceptance Testing group.   
 
Trac-IT Early Intervention Data System 
The go live date for the new Trac-It program, a state-wide data platform/electronic health record for 
Part C, was June 27, 2022.  The new date for full implementation of additional 280+ data 
requirements has been announced as December 11, 2023.  RACSB will have to use the extract 
functionality which is still in development in order to meet full implementation expectations.  
Provided advocacy at the VACSB Executive Director’s Forum around changes needed to the draft 
contract for Part C to remove requirements to maintain record in Trac-It and remove wording which 
would commit the agency to the increased data expectations on December 11 before having any 
opportunity to test the extract prior to signing. 
 
Waiver Management System (WaMS) 
RACSB continues to implement interoperability with our electronic health record, myAvatarNX 
with the state-wide Waiver Management System.  The new changes went live on May 1, 2023.  
Netsmart required additional development in order to successfully integrate the changes.  During 
this time, IT staff directly entered the plans in WaMS to prevent any disruption to services. 
 
Opportunities for Partnership/Input: 

 Attended two Stafford Board of Supervisors Meetings in support of our regional Opioid 
Abatement Authority Cooperative grant application. 

 Represented CSBs on the newly developed Data Exchange Steering Committee with senior 
DBHDS leadership. 

 Worked with DBHDS Office of Enterprise Management Services to develop a potential 
pilot to reimburse CSBs for uncompensated mental health care services. 

 Presented at the Virginia Association of School Superintendents state conference around 
supporting mental health in schools. 

 Provided quote and feedback to US House of Representative Spanberger for the introduction 
of legislation to expand funding for SUD workforce public service student loan forgiveness 
program. 

 Met with Anthem twice to explore potential pilots for additional funding to support 
individuals with temporary housing, SUD, and medication adherence. 

 Attended the Virginia Health Information EDCC Advisory Council Meeting. 
 Attended the Caroline County Public School’s April School Board meeting to introduce new 

school-based therapist and program. 
 Attended the Government Innovations Virginia Conference. 

Special Projects and Data Requests: 
Operations programs participate in a variety of special projects/requests for data.  Please find 
examples of a few of these efforts: 

 Represented the agency virtually at the VACSB Quality and Outcomes, Data Management 

Page 90 of 91



 

Committee, WaMS statewide calls, DBHDS Data Quality Sub-committee, CCS 
Implementation Team meeting, Region 1 IT Council, UAT Team, new DBHDS Data 
Dashboard Committee, and DMC Technical Sub-committee. 

 Led Subject Matter Expert Data Quality Committee with DBHDS to address questions 
regarding appropriate reporting of new initiatives. 

 Meet weekly on the core advisory group with DBHDS around the new Data Exchange 
implementation project.  

 Met with Netsmart State Reporting engineers to begin development of an automated state 
metric measures reporting dashboard specific to Virginia dashboard measures. 

 Participated in a development call with QI Folio to support development of a strategic plan 
management software. 

 Attended Netsmart’s National Conference Connections with 20 other Virginia CSB and 
DBHDS representatives. 

 
 

Page 91 of 91


	Board Meeting Notice May2023.pdf
	TO:   Board of Directors

	May_BoD_Packet.pdf
	Agenda
	April 18, 2023 Minutes
	May PPE Minutes
	Call to order
	Extraordinary Barriers List
	Independent Assessment Certification and Coordination Team Update
	Information Technology/Electronic Health Record Update
	Crisis Intervention Team (CIT) Assessment Center Report
	Licensing Reports
	Quarterly Incident Report Review
	Quality Assurance Report
	Adjournment

	May PPE Packet
	May Finance Minutes
	Call to order
	March 2023 Financial Summary Report
	Adjournment

	May Finance Packet
	May Personnel Minutes
	Call to order
	April 2023 Retention Report
	Adjournment

	May Personnel Packet
	Clinical Services Board Report
	Prevention Services Board Report
	Prevention Services
	Substance Abuse Prevention
	State Opioid Response (SOR)
	Suicide Prevention Initiatives
	Additional Initiatives
	Healthy Families Rappahannock Area

	Community Support Services Board Report
	Deputy Director Board Report




